**RECEIVED**

**Sep 28 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

---

BRITTANY C. FOSTER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000143

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred where it found plea counsel provided effective representation where counsel advised Petitioner Foster to plead guilty but he did not advise Foster that she could challenge the admissibility of her confessions at trial, where Foster would have exercised her right to trial had she known she could challenge this critical evidence, and where there was a reasonable probability Foster would have succeeded in suppressing her confessions, since counsel's deficient performance resulted in Foster's entry of guilty pleas that were not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently tendered?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the August 2016 term, a Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted the petitioner, Brittany Foster, for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, unlawful carrying of a pistol, and possession of methamphetamine. App. 307 – 312. On April 27, 2017, Foster pleaded guilty as indicted before the Honorable Letitia Verdin. Barry Joe Barnette represented the State. Robert Hall represented Foster. App. 1. Petitioner was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of forty years for murder, five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, one year for unlawful carrying of a pistol, and three years for possession of methamphetamine. App. 27, ll. 16-19.

Notice of intent to appeal the guilty pleas was timely filed and served but the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(iv), SCACR. App. 29. The remittitur was issued August 3, 2017. App. 30. On February 27, 2018, Foster filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 31 – 37. On May 4, 2018, the State made its return and motion for a more definite statement. App. 38 – 45. On June 7, 2018, Foster filed an amended PCR application. App. 46 – 48. On November 8, 2018, a hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II. Foster was represented by Susannah Ross. The State was represented by Jordan Cox. App. 49. On January 24, 2020, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 293 – 306.

Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari. The State made its return. On January 15, 2021, the Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court pursuant to Rule 243(l), SCACR. On August 19, 2022, this Court granted certiorari. This brief of petitioner follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue raised on appeal. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-40 (2018). The reviewing court must defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. *Id.* (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). However, the appellate court reviews questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to the PCR court. *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred where it found plea counsel provided effective representation where plea counsel advised Petitioner Foster to plead guilty but he did not advise Foster that she could challenge the admissibility of her confessions at trial, where Foster would have exercised her right to trial had she known she could challenge this critical evidence, and where there was a reasonable probability Foster would have been successful in suppressing her confessions, since counsel's deficient performance resulted in Foster's entry of guilty pleas that were not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently tendered.

Foster's confessions were the State's key evidence of guilt. Counsel did not advise Foster she could challenge the confessions' admissibility, and instead he advised her to plead guilty based on his incorrect understanding of the law.

### *Relevant facts*

Brittany Foster was indicted for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, unlawful carrying of a pistol, and possession of methamphetamine. App. 307 – 312. The charges stemmed from the 2016 death of the decedent, Anthony Biggerstaff. App. 311 – 312.

At the time of the decedent's death, Foster was twenty-one years old with a ninth-grade education. App. 6, ll. 11-14. Foster had a history of epileptic seizures, brain damage, and learning disabilities. App. 93, ll. 4-5; App. 88, ll. 7-10. She was sexually abused by her father at the age of eleven, and her mother was addicted to drugs. App. 85, l. 17 – 86, l. 22. Foster became addicted to drugs at the age of fifteen. App. 86, l. 23 – 87, l. 1. When Foster was raped by a friend's father at the age of eighteen, the State declined to prosecute because the man "denied it

was forced.” App. 89, ll. 5-15. “[B]y the time [Foster] hit adolescence [she had been] thrown away by society.” App. 106, ll. 17-19.

In May of 2016, Foster was living with her boyfriend, Keenen Hines (Hines). The two were roommates with the decedent. App. 11, l. 22 – 12, l. 1. Prior to the decedent’s death, Foster woke up in “excruciating pain,” bleeding from the vagina and rectum. App. 64, l. 24 – 65, l. 6. She asked Hines if the two of them had sex, and Hines said they had not. Hines appeared to become angry with Foster and he accused her of cheating on him with the decedent, who was the only other person in the house. App. 65, l. 8 – 66, l. 8. However, Foster would later discover that Hines likely “sold” her to the decedent when she was “passed out.” App. 63, l. 25 – 66, l. 3; App. 22, ll. 4-6.

On May 29, 2016, Hines, Foster, and the decedent were together in the decedent’s car. The night would end with the decedent dead in a creek and his car floating in Lake Bowen. App. 13, l. 15 – 14, l. 18; App. 255. After finding the decedent’s car in the lake and a suicide note nearby, police began looking for Foster and Hines, since they were the decedent’s roommates and had been seen with him that day. App. 11, l. 13 – 14, l. 1.

On May 30, 2016, Investigator Clark interviewed Foster and Hines at the hotel where they were staying. According to Clark, Foster and Hines said they were staying at the hotel because the decedent told them they had to move out. Clark said Foster “made the comment that [the decedent] had made several sexual comments and advances towards her,” but that Foster and Hines “were hesitant to talk to me.” Clark left after giving them his business card. App. 143; App. 150; App. 164.

Four days later, on June 2, 2016, Foster and Hines were passengers in car driven by Jessica Nesbitt (Nesbitt). The car was pulled over because Officer Henderson could not read the

date on the car's paper tag. Nesbitt was in the driver's seat, Hines was in the passenger's seat, and Foster sat in the rear. App. 196. Nesbitt continued driving briefly before she pulled over. App. 99, ll. 15-21; App. 196. After Nesbitt pulled over, Nesbitt looked through purses in the trunk for her driver's license, and Officer Henderson saw a bag of methamphetamine. App. 196. Nesbitt admitted the purse containing the methamphetamine was hers. App. 197. Henderson asked Nesbitt about the presence of any weapons, and Nesbitt said that Hines had a gun. Henderson searched the car and found a gun under the front passenger seat, where Hines had been seated. App. 99, l. 22 – 101, l. 25; App. 196; App. 200. Officers also found marijuana inside a bookbag on the passenger floorboard. App. 197.

**Although nothing linked Foster to the gun under Hines' seat, the methamphetamine in Nesbitt's trunk, or the marijuana in the bookbag by Hines, Foster was arrested along with Nesbitt and Hines.** App. 200. All three—Nesbitt, Hines, and Foster were charged with unlawful carrying of a pistol, possession of methamphetamine, and possession of marijuana. App. 102, l. 23 – 103, l. 2; R. 13, ll. 2-8; App. 197. Nesbitt was charged with additional drug crimes for more drugs found on her person when she was searched at the jail. App. 197.

After Foster was taken to the jail, Investigator Clark, who had wanted the opportunity to question her again, began to interrogate Foster. Foster, who was under the influence of drugs and alcohol, admitted shooting the decedent. App. 103, ll. 4-15; App. 57, ll. 15-18; App. 59, ll. 2-9; App. 166. Foster was read *Miranda*<sup>1</sup> warnings and officers took her out to look for the body for “a number of hours,” but they were unsuccessful. App. 145; App. 166. Foster was taken to the Sheriff's Department and again provided *Miranda* warnings. Investigator Clark obtained a

---

<sup>1</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

recorded confession from Foster in which she admitted that she had killed the decedent and said Hines helped her dispose of the body. App. 145; App. 166; App. 204; State's Exhibit #4.

Although she initially denied that Hines was in any way responsible for the murder, Foster would later say that Hines gave her the gun, asked her if she was going to let the decedent get away with raping her, and told her, "Do it." App. 66, ll. 12-15; App. 14, ll. 3-6; App. 22, l. 4 – 23, l. 24.

Hines was questioned and he admitted he helped hide the decedent's body, but he claimed Foster killed the decedent because the decedent "was trying to get with her and she did not like that." App. 145; App. 205 – 211; State's Exhibit #5. Hines showed officers where the decedent's body was located and he was charged with accessory after the fact. App. 145; App. 155.

A pre-trial competency evaluation revealed Foster had depression and a personality disorder. Foster was also diagnosed with alcohol use disorder and amphetamine use disorder. App. 221 – 222. Foster attended special education classes as a child. App. 218. She had a significant history of cutting herself. App. 219. The psychologist noted Foster had "deficits" in her understanding of the legal system and opined that she might need education regarding the legal process. App. 224.

Foster's counsel advised that she plead guilty, straight up. App. 109, ll. 15-21; App. 113, l. 17 – 114, l. 20; App. 121, l. 20 – 122, l. 1. On April 27, 2017, Foster did so. App. 1. No negotiations had been entered and no recommendations were made. App. 4, ll. 12-14. Foster was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of forty years for murder, five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, one year for unlawful carrying of a pistol, and three years for possession of methamphetamine. App. 27, ll. 16-19.

At the plea hearing, the solicitor misspoke and said that Nesbitt’s car had been pulled over for an expired tag. Plea counsel did not correct this misstatement of fact. App. 12, ll. 6-12; App. 99, ll. 15-18. Nesbitt was actually pulled over because Officer Henderson said he could not see the expiration date on her temporary tag—the tag was not expired. App. 196; App. 99, ll. 15-18; App. 115, ll. 6-22.

Foster filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 31 – 37. A hearing was held on the matter. Foster testified that plea counsel never advised her that she could challenge the admissibility of her statements if she went to trial. Foster said defense counsel never mentioned a *Jackson v. Denno*<sup>2</sup> hearing and he never mentioned that a trial judge could, in some circumstances, keep a confession out of a trial. App. 60, l. 20 – 61, l. 2. “It was never stated that my – that my confessions could be suppressed, ever.” App. 69, ll. 18-19. Foster said that if she had known she could challenge her confessions at trial, she would have taken the case to trial. App. 69, ll. 22-25; App. 70, ll. 4-12.

Plea counsel<sup>3</sup> was asked if he had explained to Foster that she might have a “suppression issue that she could only argue if she went to trial?” and he said, “I don’t know if we had that discussion . . .” App. 120, ll. 19-24. PCR counsel asked plea counsel a second time if he specifically recalled discussing with Foster that she waived her right to challenge her confessions if she pleaded guilty rather than going to trial, and he responded, “Well, first of all, I didn’t think

---

<sup>2</sup> *Jackson v. Denno*, 377 U.S. 368 (1964).

<sup>3</sup> Plea counsel was appointed to represent Foster on the charges. App. 94, l. 19 – 95, l. 16. Troublingly, plea counsel did not explicitly deny Foster’s allegation that he told her if she did not plead guilty, she would be “hung” by the trial judge. Plea counsel said that he did not remember; that he would have advised something similar but he would likely have used the word “hanged.” App. 109, ll. 15-17; App. 113, ll. 3-16. Nevertheless, the PCR court found Foster’s testimony that she pleaded guilty based on this advice from counsel was not credible. App. 303.

we had a good suppression issue. But I did say you're – and I tell all my clients you're going to be giving up any rights to challenge any of the evidence, statements, or anything. And I think the judge – every judge goes through that very well in this State.” App. 121, l. 20 – 122, l. 5.

The PCR court took the matter under advisement and issued an order wherein the fifteen exhibits that were entered by the State at Foster's plea hearing were made part of the record of the PCR hearing.<sup>4</sup> App. 129 – 130; App. 131 – 283. PCR counsel filed a brief in which she argued that the exhibits showed Foster “had a strong search and seizure argument which could likely have resulted in the suppression of her confession as fruit of the poisonous tree,” or as involuntarily made. App. 286; App. 289.

PCR counsel also noted that if Foster “lost her pre-trial suppression motion, she would have had a strong appellate issue if she had not pled guilty.” App. 289. PCR counsel argued that plea counsel provided deficient performance when he advised Foster she should plead guilty based on his opinion that she would be convicted at trial, since his opinion was “based on a mistake of law.” App. 290. PCR counsel also noted that plea counsel did not dispute Foster's “testimony that they had not discussed suppression issues or her chances to keep out the confession if she went to trial. Nor did [counsel] dispute [Foster's] testimony that if she had known that she had a suppression issue, she would not have pled and instead insisted on going to trial.” App. 290.

On January 24, 2020, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 293 – 306. In the order of dismissal, the PCR court addressed, *inter alia*, Foster's allegation that counsel was ineffective for “[a]dvising the Applicant to plea without explaining that she may have been able

---

<sup>4</sup> Copies of the paper exhibits, including the incident reports, are included in the Appendix. Copies of the photographic exhibits are included in the Appendix and are also on file with this Court. The exhibits recorded on video, including Foster's interview with police officers and Hines' interview with police officers, are also on file with this Court.

to get her confession suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree or because it was not voluntarily made due to the fact her statement was given when she was incompetent because of her mental health issues and the fact that she was actively under the influence of drugs.” App. 301. The order of dismissal stated that the traffic stop “in which the applicant was a passenger that resulted in the applicant being taken into custody would not have been successful if challenged at a trial.” App. 301. “Also, her confession to the murder is unrelated to the stop. It is far more probably [sic] that she was going to be questioned by police about the murder, not because she was a passenger in the vehicle where a gun and drugs were found, but rather because she and her boyfriend had been roommates with the deceased.” App. 301.

As to whether counsel should have advised Foster she could challenge the voluntariness of her confessions, the order of dismissal concluded that Foster had not met her burden of proof as to establishing *Strickland* prejudice since she “presented no evidence, other than her own statement that she was ‘extremely high’ at the time of her arrest, to support a finding of incompetency.” App. 301 – 302.

## ***Discussion***

### *Introduction*

In order to provide reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, in this case: (1) plea counsel was obligated to inform but failed to inform Foster that she could challenge the admissibility of her confessions at trial, and that when she pleaded guilty she gave up the rights to do so; and (2) plea counsel was required to have a correct understanding of the law before advising Foster to plead guilty but counsel did not, since he did not know that there was a reasonable probability Foster’s confessions would be suppressed under these circumstances.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). A defendant is entitled to the effective assistance of competent counsel before deciding whether to plead guilty. *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 364 (2010). The decision to plead guilty must be a voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985).

“In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove: (1) counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms; and (2) counsel’s deficient performance prejudiced the applicant’s case.” *McKnight v. State*, 378 S.C. 33, 40, 661 S.E.2d 354, 357 (2008) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687). “[T]he two-part *Strickland v. Washington* test applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Hill*, 474 U.S. at 58.

#### *Deficiency*

First, plea counsel was deficient when he did not advise Foster that she could challenge the admissibility of her confessions at trial. Foster testified plea counsel never mentioned that a trial judge could keep a confession out of a trial under certain circumstances. App. 60, l. 20 – 61, l. 2. “It was never stated that my – that my confessions could be suppressed, ever.” App. 69, ll. 18-19. Plea counsel did not dispute Foster’s testimony; he was asked if he explained to Foster that she might have a “suppression issue that she could only argue if she went to trial?” and counsel said, “I don’t know if we had that discussion . . .” App. 120, ll. 19-24.

PCR counsel was asked again whether he specifically recalled discussing the possibility of suppressing Foster’s confessions with her and he did not—counsel only said that he would have told Foster what he generally tells all of his clients, that “you’re going to be giving up any

rights to challenge any of the evidence, statements, or anything.” Plea counsel said he considered colloquies by judges sufficient to inform defendants of their rights. App. 121, l. 20 – 122, l. 5. The plea judge did not mention suppression in her colloquy with Foster. App. 5, l. 2 – 6, l. 25; App. 15, l. 5 – 16, l. 18.

In order for Foster to knowingly and intelligently plead guilty and waive her rights to challenge the evidence against her she needed to understand what challenging statements meant: that her confessions might not be heard by the jury if she went to trial. Notably, the psychologist who evaluated Foster for competency to stand trial concluded that Foster had deficits in her understanding of the legal system and might need “education” regarding “some aspects of the legal system.” App. 224. Plea counsel’s performance was deficient, since he did not advise Foster the trial judge could suppress her confessions so that they would not be used against her at trial (or that if the trial judge did not, she could potentially prevail on direct appeal). Defense counsel provides ineffective assistance where counsel fails to inform the defendant “prior to his guilty plea that his statements may have been made involuntarily, and, if so, would be inadmissible at trial.” *Shirley v. State*, 306 S.C. 241, 244, 411 S.E.2d 215, 216 (1991). *See McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 466 (1969) (“because a guilty plea is an admission of all the elements of a formal criminal charge, it cannot be truly voluntary unless the defendant possesses an understanding of the law in relation to the facts”).

The evidence against Foster primarily consisted of her confessions, her codefendant Hines’ statement against her, and evidence that she was with Hines and the decedent the day of his death. *See* App. 143 – 168; App. 194 – 211; State’s Exhibit #4; State’s Exhibit #5. Thus, Foster’s confessions were the key evidence against her. Plea counsel’s advice left her with the mistaken understanding that the confessions would be admitted at trial as a matter of course. Plea

counsel's deficient performance left Foster without a "voluntary and intelligent choice among the alternative courses of action open to the defendant," since she did not know she could challenge critical evidence against her at trial. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. at 56. Foster did not have an "understanding of the law in relation to the facts." *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. at 466. Therefore, her pleas of guilty were not knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered.

Second, plea counsel was ineffective for advising Foster she should plead guilty based on his erroneous understanding that Foster's confessions were unlikely to be suppressed. App. 109, ll. 15-21; App. 113, l. 17 – 114, l. 20; App. 121, l. 20 – 122, l. 1. "Prior to trial an accused is entitled to rely upon his counsel to make an independent examination of the facts, circumstances, pleadings and laws involved and then to offer his informed opinion as to what plea should be entered." *Von Moltke v. Gillies*, 332 U.S. 708, 721 (1948). The State entered fifteen exhibits, including law enforcement's incident reports about the case. App. 9, l. 3 – 11, l. 12; App. 131 – 283; State's Exhibits #4 – 5; State's Exhibits #7 – 10. These exhibits, which were before the PCR court, show there was a reasonable probability that Foster's confessions could be suppressed. Alternate grounds for suppressing Foster's confessions, which will be discussed below, were her unlawful arrest, the unlawful stop, fruit of the poisonous tree, involuntariness and coercion. Moreover, the confessions were not admissible under the inevitable discovery doctrine.

Foster's confessions were the product of an unlawful seizure since police officers lacked probable cause to arrest her for the drugs or weapon found in Nesbitt's car. Probable cause must be more than mere suspicion; it must be a fair probability determined by the totality of the circumstances. *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). Arrests cannot be made without probable cause. *Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. 692, 700 (1981). Although police had probable

cause to arrest Nesbitt and Hines, they did not have probable cause to arrest Foster. When Nesbitt looked through the trunk for her driver's license, the officer spotted methamphetamine in a purse that Nesbitt admitted was her own. App. 196. Nesbitt told Officer Henderson that Hines had a pistol in the car, and officers found the pistol under Hines' seat. Officers also found marijuana in a bookbag on the floor of the passenger's compartment, where Hines was sitting. App. 196 – 197. These facts did not provide probable cause to arrest and question Foster. Foster's arrest was unlawful. U.S. Const. amend. IV; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *Michigan v. Summers*, 452 U.S. at 700; *see also Dunaway v. New York*, 442 U.S. 200, 216-19 (1979) (officers violated Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments when they seized defendant without probable cause and took him to the police station; defendant's confession, which was obtained absent significant intervening events, should have been suppressed).

Foster's arrest led to her interrogation and confessions. First, Foster said she shot the decedent prior to being provided *Miranda* warnings, when police initiated questioning; and second, Foster gave a more detailed statement that she shot the decedent after police provided *Miranda* warnings. State's Exhibit #4; App. 145; App. 166. However, the provision of *Miranda* did not attenuate the taint of Foster's unconstitutional arrest. "[T]he fact that the confession may be 'voluntary' for purposes of the Fifth Amendment, in the sense that *Miranda* warnings were given and understood, is not by itself sufficient to purge the taint of the illegal arrest." *Taylor v. Alabama*, 457 U.S. 687, 690 (1982). "In this situation, a finding of 'voluntariness' for purposes of the Fifth Amendment is merely a threshold requirement for Fourth Amendment analysis." *Id.* In other words, just because Foster was given *Miranda* warnings did not make her subsequent confession admissible, since she was in custody pursuant to an unconstitutional seizure.

When determining whether *Miranda* warnings assure that a confession was of sufficient free will so as to purge the primary taint of an unlawful arrest, the court must determine whether the confession was “obtained by exploitation of the illegality of [the accused’s] arrest.” *Brown v. Illinois*, 422 U.S. 590, 600 (1975). The factors to be considered include the temporal proximity of the arrest and the confession, the presence of intervening circumstances, and the purpose and flagrancy of the official misconduct. *Id.* at 603-04. In *Taylor v. Alabama*, 457 U.S. at 691, the United States Supreme Court held that intervening circumstances were not sufficient to break the causal connection between an arrest and confession where six hours had elapsed between the arrest and the confession, *Miranda* warnings were given, and the accused was allowed to visit with his girlfriend. Here, as in *Taylor*, Foster’s confessions were obtained by exploitation of her arrest. The temporal proximity of her statements was close to the time of her arrest, and there were no intervening circumstances sufficient to attenuate Foster’s unlawful arrest from her confessions. She was in police custody throughout and she never spoke with a lawyer. App. 145; App. 166; App. 103, ll. 4-15. The purpose of the questioning was an investigatory expedition undertaken via an unconstitutional seizure.

The PCR court erred in finding Foster’s confessions were unrelated to the stop. Foster had already been questioned by Investigator Clark about the decedent’s death two days before and she did not incriminate herself. App. 164. It was not until she was arrested in the traffic stop that she confessed. Foster’s confessions were evidence derived from her unreasonable seizure since police did not have probable cause to arrest her, and the confessions would likely have been suppressed at trial as fruit of the poisonous tree. *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 484-86 (1963). The remedy for an unlawful arrest is the suppression of evidence seized as a result of the arrest, along with any leads or evidence derived from the arrest. *Whiteley v. Warden*,

401 U.S. 560, 568-69 (1971). Plea counsel was ineffective for failing to recognize the strength of the suppression issue in this case based on Foster's unlawful arrest.

Alternatively, Foster could have successfully suppressed her confessions based on the unlawful stop of Nesbitt's car since the facts did not provide reasonable suspicion to stop Nesbitt's car. A traffic stop is a seizure under the Fourth Amendment. *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 809-10 (1996). As a passenger, Foster had standing to challenge the traffic stop, her own seizure, and evidence derived from that seizure. *Brendlin v. California*, 551 U.S. 249, 257 (2007). Officer Henderson's incident report stated that he pulled over Nesbitt's car because, "I could not see the expiration date on the tag." App. 196. However, no traffic violation was reported, Henderson never claimed there was anything wrong with how the tag was displayed, and the tag was not expired.

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