**RECEIVED**

**Jan 03 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Spartanburg County  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Trial Judge  
The Honorable J. Mark Hayes, II, PCR Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000143

---

BRITTANY FOSTER. .... Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA. .... Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

CHELSEY F. MARTO  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar # 104191

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

On appeal, Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in denying her relief because Counsel was ineffective for failure to discuss with her the possibility of suppressing her confession at trial. However, the PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding that Petitioner failed to establish she would have proceeded to trial but for Counsel's omission. Accordingly, Petitioner failed to establish prejudice. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. Consequently, this Court should affirm the finding of the circuit court.

When a petitioner asserts ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, they must show "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. Ineffective assistance of counsel is governed by the Sixth Amendment, as explained by the United States Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington*.

Pursuant to the first prong of the *Strickland* analysis, the petitioner must prove defense counsel's performance was deficient. *Id.* at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). To show deficiency, the petitioner must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel's actions fell outside of the zone of "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. *See also* Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC ("The applicant has the burden of establishing his entitlement to relief by a preponderance of the evidence."). Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance remains highly deferential towards defense counsel with a strong presumption that counsel acted competently, because competent representation may be executed in virtually "countless" ways. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688-89.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the petitioner so that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-18. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. The court makes this determination based upon the totality of the evidence. *Id.* at 695. Importantly, "[t]he likelihood of a different result must be *substantial*, not just conceivable." *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

The standards do not establish mechanical rules; the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696. A court need not first determine whether counsel's performance was deficient before examining the prejudice suffered by the defendant because of the alleged deficiencies; if it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, that course should be followed. *Id.* at 696-97.

In the context of a guilty plea, the petitioner must show there is a reasonable probability that but for ineffective assistance of counsel, he or she would not have pled guilty but, instead, would have insisted on going to trial. *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). *See also Blackledge v. Allison*, 431 U.S. 63, 73-74 (1977) ("Solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity. The subsequent presentation of conclusory allegations unsupported by specifics is subject to summary dismissal, as are contentions that in the face of the record are wholly incredible."). "A defendant who pleads guilty on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea by showing 1) that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and 2) that there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty but would

have insisted on going to trial.” *Wolfe v. State*, 326 S.C.158, 485 S.E.2d 367 (1997); accord *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985); *Roscoe v. State*, 345 S.C. 16, 546 S.E.2d 417 (2001). Absent valid reasons why the petitioner is entitled to depart from previous judicial admissions made at the plea hearing, statements made during the original proceeding remain conclusive. *Dalton v. State*, 376 S.C. 130, 137-38, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Crawford v. United States*, 519 F.2d 347, 350 (4th Cir. 1975)).

To show prejudice, the petitioner is required to show that the deficiency would have affected counsel’s advice to accept the plea bargain or cause petitioner to decline accepting the bargain. See *Stalk v. State*, 383 S.C. 559, 681 S.E.2d 592 (2009) (quoting *Hill, supra* and discussing the prejudice prong). This requires more than the bare assertion that “but for” the deficiency, petitioner would not have pled guilty, but gone to trial instead. *Id.* at 563, 681 S.E.2d at 594-595.

The Fourth Circuit has recognized that determining prejudice is an objective inquiry depending “on the likely outcome of a trial had the defendant not pleaded guilty.” *Meyer v. Banker*, 506 F.3d 358, 369 (4th Cir. 2007); see *Hooper v. Garraghty*, 845 F.2d 471, 475 (4th Cir. 1988) (noting despite focus on a subjective inquiry in *Lockhart*’s prejudice standard, the answer to the prejudice inquiry “must be reached through an objective analysis.”).

To show prejudice in the context of a guilty plea, a PCR applicant must show that he would not have pled guilty but for counsel’s errors and “must convince the court that such a decision would have been rational under the circumstances.” *United States v. Fugit*, 703 F.3d 248, 260 (4th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted) *cert denied*, 134 S.Ct. 999 (2014) citing *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 372 (2009). “The challenger’s subjective preferences,

therefore, are not dispositive; what matters is whether proceeding to trial would have been objectively reasonable in light of all of the facts.” *Fugit*, at 260.

The plea transcript reflects that Petitioner pled freely, knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. Petitioner admitted she discussed her charges with Counsel, that she had sufficient time to talk to him, and that her decision to plead was not coerced. (App. 5). She acknowledged she was not promised anything to plead. (App. 5). She waived her rights to a jury trial, to remain silent, and to call and confront witnesses. (App. 5-6). Petitioner admitted she had a history of mental health issues and that she was evaluated and found competent to stand trial. (App. 6-8). She admitted that she did not have any complaints against Counsel, the State, or law enforcement in the handling of her case. (App. 8). After the State recited the facts of the case, Petitioner pled guilty on all three counts. (App. 9-15). Counsel submitted to the Court that he thought Petitioner understood their conversations, understood the State’s theory of the case if the matter proceeded to trial, and agreed with her decision to plead. (App. 16).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner admitted she pled because she was afraid of a harsher sentence at trial. (App. 56-57). Petitioner also admitted that, though their conversation about the confession was brief, Counsel informed her that it was sufficient evidence to convict. (App. 57). Counsel reviewed the discovery with Petitioner, including the police statement. (App. 95, 103-04). Counsel testified that he gave Petitioner a generalized warning that if she pled, she would waive “any rights to challenge any of the evidence, statements, or anything.” (App. 121-22). After reviewing the statement, Counsel informed Petitioner she would likely lose at trial and be more likely to receive a life sentence at trial than she would by pleading. (App. 109, 113-14). Counsel testified that, in his professional judgment, any challenge to the police statement would not have been successful. (App. 113).

Petitioner has failed to establish any prejudice from the alleged failure to communicate with Petitioner the prospects of suppressing the statement. Specifically, she has failed to substantiate the claim that she would have proceeded to trial but for Counsel's alleged failure. Petitioner acknowledged that she pled because she was afraid of a harsher sentence at trial. Counsel corroborated this. Counsel also acknowledged that the confession likely would not have been suppressed and did not alter his advice or opinion that pleading was in Petitioner's best interest. Petitioner failed to show how the motion would have been successful. She has also failed to support her prejudice argument with any corroborating evidence. Thus, any assertion of prejudice is not objectively reasonable. *See Fugit*, 703 F.3d at 260 (4th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted) *cert denied*, 134 S.Ct. 999 (2014) citing *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 372 (2009). ("The challenger's subjective preferences, therefore, are not dispositive; what matters is whether proceeding to trial would have been objectively reasonable in light of all of the facts." *Fugit*, at 260). Petitioner has failed to establish her burden of proof regarding prejudice and relief should be denied accordingly.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the PCR Court's findings.